# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-1-2013

# Cumis Ins. Society, Inc v. Massey Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40002

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

#### A. Introduction

This appeal arises from a grant of summary judgment in favor of Wade Massey and Capitol West Appraisals (hereinafter "Massey" and "Capitol West," collectively as "Defendants") against Plaintiff CUMIS Insurance Society, Inc. (hereinafter "CUMIS" or "Plaintiff").

In its brief, Plaintiff argues that: (1) the District Court misinterpreted federal and Idaho statutory law governing the professional conduct of appraisers; (2) the District Court relied upon evidence that was not in the record, and made inferences from the evidence in order to reach its conclusion that Defendants were entitled to judgment as a matter of law; and (3) genuine issues of material fact exist between Plaintiff's and Defendants' cases in chief and therefore judgment was not entitled as a matter of law. Plaintiff prays that the Supreme Court reverse and remand the case back to District Court.

#### B. The Parties

CUMIS is the legal subrogee of Idahy Federal Credit Union, n/k/a Icon Federal Credit Union (hereinafter "Icon"), pursuant to its \$247,474.90 fidelity bond insurance payment for losses incurred by the Uniform Residential Appraisal Report prepared by Defendants (hereinafter "Appraisal"). See, "Exhibit A" to "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment".

Defendant Massey is a professional appraiser licensed to practice in the State of Idaho and specializing in commercial and residential real estate property appraisals. Massey is the owner of Defendant Capitol West Appraisals, which prepared and finalized the appraisal which was the subject of this lawsuit.

#### C. Statement of Facts

#### i. The Appraisal:

In June 2007, at the request of Jacob Wilson of Clearwater Mortgage (hereinafter "Clearwater"), a loan originator and mortgage broker, Massey appraised a property at 16462 Plum Road in Caldwell, Idaho (hereinafter "Property"). The then-owners of the Property, Steven and Valerie Hruza (hereinafter collectively as the "Hruzas"), were seeking a second mortgage on their home and Clearwater sought the benefit of Massey's professional services in assessing the wisdom of extending a loan to the Hruzas.

Notably, Defendants certified that their Appraisal was a "Summary Report" as defined by the Uniform Standards for Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP), Rule 2-2(b). Certifying an appraisal as a "Summary Report" requires the appraiser to list intended users of the appraisal by either "name" or "type". Accordingly, Defendants' Appraisal included two certifications that are relevant to the current appeal. First, certification 21 describes the parties to whom Clearwater, as the immediate client, was authorized to release the report without Massey's prior consent:

21. The lender/client may disclose or distribute this appraisal report to: the borrower; another lender at the request of the borrower; the mortgagee or its successors and assigns; mortgage insurers; government sponsored enterprises; other secondary market participants; data collection or reporting services; professional appraisal organizations; any department, agency, or Instrumentality of the United States; and any state, the District of Columbia, or other jurisdictions; without having to obtain the appraiser's or supervisory appraiser's (if applicable) consent. Such consent must be obtained before this appraisal report may be disclosed or distributed to any other party (including, but not limited to, the public through advertising, public relations, news, sales, or other media). (Emphasis added)

See, "Exhibit A" to "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment", p.

6. Second, certification 23 provides a list of parties who are entitled to rely on the representations and opinions provided in the Appraisal:

23. The borrower, another lender at the request of the borrower, the mortgagee or its successors and assigns, mortgage insurers, government sponsored enterprises, and other secondary market participants may rely on this appraisal report as part of any mortgage finance transaction that involves any one or more of these parties.

See, "Exhibit A" to "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment", p. 6. (Emphasis added). When Defendants submitted the Appraisal to Clearwater, they did not indicate that the Appraisal was incomplete, inchoate or tentative, as asserted by Defendant Massey throughout this litigation.

In the Appraisal, Defendants concluded that the Hruza's property was valued at \$1,150,000.00. See, "Exhibit A" to "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment", p. 2. Despite Defendants' certifications of the Appraisal's accuracy, the Defendants' overvalued the Appraisal by nearly \$500,000.00. Defendants' Appraisal contained several fundamental mistakes that led to the Property's overvaluation. For example, the Appraisal contains a mistake on the first page in which it states that the 16462 Plum Road Property is located in the city of Parma, Idaho, when it fact it is located in Caldwell, Idaho. See, "Exhibit A" to "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment", p. 1.

To support the claimed property valuation of \$1,150,000, Defendants' Appraisal purportedly relied on six comparable properties offered for sale in the subject neighborhood. In Defendants' Appraisal, the homes listed as comparative property values (hereinafter "Comps") ranged in price from \$997,850 to \$1,355,200. Defendants' Appraisal reported that the Comps used appeared to be the most representative closed sales at the time of Defendants' preparation of the Appraisal. *See*, "Exhibit A" to "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment", p. 2. Defendants certified that they "selected and used comparable sales

that are locationally, physically, and functionally the most similar to the subject property." *See,* "Exhibit A" to "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment", p. 5, ¶
7. However, Defendants' Appraisal misrepresented the location of each of the Comps.

The Appraisal listed five properties purportedly from Eagle, Idaho as representing the Comps to the subject property located in Parma. However, the residential values that Defendants used from Eagle did not accurately reflect the residential values in Caldwell, where the property was **actually** located. The selection of "Comps" from Eagle had the effect of overvaluing the Property actually located in Caldwell. The Miscalculations of distance helped hide the fact that the "Comps" in Eagle were not comparable to the Property in Caldwell.

To further compound this error, Defendants' Appraisal represents two comparable sales properties as being located in Eagle, when in fact they are located in Caldwell and Nampa, Idaho. *See*, "Exhibit A" to "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment", p. 2. Additionally, Defendants chose four Comps that were between two to six years old, and did not reflect current real estate values in Idaho.

Furthermore, by Massey's own admission, the Appraisal was "defective" and "had errors that ... me and my client were aware of." R. Vol. I, p. 26. Nonetheless, Massey took no action to reissue the appraisal, to issue a written notice of the defects, or to indicate the presence of any errors on the appraisal itself. R. Vol. I, p. 40. To the contrary, Massey indicated on the face of the report that it was a final Summary Report. R. Vol. I, p. 27; R. Vol. I, p. 44.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The first comp, located at 4458 N. Croft, Eagle, Idaho is listed in the Appraisal as 16.81 miles from the subject proerpty; **28.90** miles is the shortest distance reported on Google Maps. The second comp, located at 187 S. Alder, Eagle, Idaho is listed as 19.7 miles from the subject property; **26.20** miles is the shortest distance reported on Google Maps. The third comp, located at 1081 S. Star Rd, Star, Idaho is listed as 13.62 miles from the subject property; **21.0** miles is the shortest distance reported on Google Maps. The fourth comp, located at 3703 N Highway 16, Eagle, Idaho is listed as 14.43 miles from the subject property; **26.5** miles is the shortest distance reported on Google Maps. The fifth comp, located at 21250 Midland Blvd., Caldwell, Idaho is listed as 8.35 miles from the subject property; **16.7** miles is the shortest distance reported on Google Maps. The sixth comp, located at 8403 Partridge Dr., Nampa, Idaho is listed as 11.53 miles from the subject property, **18.5** miles is the shortest distance reported on Google Maps.

#### ii. Icon's Receipt and Reliance on Defendants' Appraisal:

Although Clearwater eventually decided not to extend a loan to the Hruzas, the Appraisal did serve as the basis for a loan issued by Icon. In September 2007, the Hruza's submitted a loan application to Icon which included the Appraisal as prepared by Defendants. Icon paid the Defendants a sum of \$800 for their Appraisal by check dated September 18, 2007, and Defendants accepted payment. R. Vol. II, p. 174. As a condition of funding the Hruza's loan, Icon reviewed the Appraisal performed by Defendants to verify that there was sufficient equity in the Property in excess of the requested loan amount. Based, in part, on the Defendant's Appraisal, Icon approved the \$250,000.00 second mortgage loan to the Hruza's, secured by the Deed of Trust on the Property.

In November 2007, the Hruzas defaulted on the loan they obtained from Icon. At all relevant times hereto, CUMIS was the fidelity bond insurer of Icon and, in that capacity, paid \$247,474.90 to the credit union as a result of the Hruza's default.

Icon had the property re-appraised after the Hruzas defaulted on their loan. After having the property reappraised, Icon learned that property was only worth \$535,000 as of August 2008. See, "Exhibit B" to "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment", p. 2. The property was subsequently re-appraised again by Paul Bull, an appraiser based in Caldwell, Idaho, in order to determine the Property's value at the time of Defendants' Appraisal. After careful analysis, Mr. Bull determined that the Property was worth \$652,000 at the date of Defendant's Appraisal, demonstrating that Defendants' Appraisal overvalued the Property by a sum of \$498,000.00. See, "Exhibit C" to "Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment", p. 2.

#### iii. Case Disposition:

In its Complaint, filed on April 12, 2010, Plaintiff alleges that Massey violated his professional responsibilities under the Uniform Standard for Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) that govern the professional responsibilities of appraisers in Idaho, breached its contractual duties, and made negligent misrepresentations with regard to the Property.

Both Defendants and Plaintiff filed Motions for Summary Judgment on November 10, 2011 and November 15, 2011, respectively. On February 17, 2012, the Court issued an Order granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment and dismissing Plaintiff's complaint. R. Vol. II, p. 194-205 (hereinafter "Summary Judgment Order").

In its Order granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, the District Court heavily relied a undisclosed affidavit of Clearwater CEO Ernie Menchaca (hereinafter, "Menchaca Affidavit") as evidence of undisputed facts negating any duty Defendants may owe to Icon. R. Vol. II, p. 192-93 (hereinafter, "Menchaca Affidavit").

Based on the purported accuracy of the undisclosed Menchaca Affidavit, the Court found the following facts to be undisputed: (1) "Massey prepared the Appraisal at issue 'exclusively for Clearwater' to aid in its decision to extend a loan for Steven and Valerie Hruza"; (2) Icon did not request and was not provided a letter of assignment authorizing it to use or rely on the Massey Appraisal; (3) it is "neither proper nor customary" to assign an appraisal without such a letter of assignment; (4) the custom of the industry is to obtain a new appraisal or to request an assignment from a former underwriter, and not to make lending decisions based on an informally submitted appraisal.

In its Order, the District Court noted that:

[I]n preparing for the hearing on the instant motions, it became clear to the court that [Defendants were] relying on the Menchaca

Affidavit in support of their Motion. However, the court could not locate that Affidavit in the file and there was no record of the Affidavit in the Register of Actions. At the hearing, the court confirmed that [Plaintiff] had timely received service of a copy of the Menchaca Affidavit with the original motion papers and granted [Massey] leave to file a copy after the hearing. [Massey] filed a copy of the Menchaca Affidavit on February 9, 2012.

Summary Judgment Order at n. 1.

#### iv. The Menchaca Affidavit:

Defendants' attorneys purportedly prepared the Menchaca Affidavit on September 2, 2011. R. Vol. II, p. 192 - 193. While Defendants extensively rely on the Menchaca Affidavit in their November 10, 2011 Motion for Summary Judgment, the Menchaca Affidavit was not filed with the Court until February 9, 2012, and only then because the Court requested it. In fact, Defendants have *never* produced the Menchaca Affidavit to Plaintiff, who saw it for the first time when it obtained the trial court transcript in order to prepare for this appeal.<sup>2</sup>

Defendants' failure to produce the Menchaca Affidavit became the subject of Plaintiff's two post-Order Motions for Reconsideration. Plaintiff's lawyers submitted two Affidavits affirming under oath that the in Court stipulation that Plaintiff had received the Menchaca Affidavit was erroneous, and that, in fact, the Menchaca Affidavit had only been made available to them as the opposing party when it was filed with the Court following oral argument. R. Vol. II, p. 276-280; R. Vol. II, p. 281-285. Instead, Defendants relied on the *undisclosed* Menchaca Affidavit until their failure to produce the Menchaca Affidavit was identified by the District Court on February 9, 2012. To this date, Plaintiff has never been served the Menchaca Affidavit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs also note that a subpoena *duces tecum* was issued by Defendants for Clearwater c/o Ernie Menchaca on August 18, 2010. R. Vol II, p R. 247-48. Subsequently, Defendants sent a Notice of Vacating Records Deposition on August 25, 2010, indicating that Defendants would "reschedule the deposition for a later date and time." R. Vol. II, p. 251. However, no deposition was ever scheduled by Defendant.

The findings of fact based on the Menchaca Affidavit form the basis for the District Court's decision to grant Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment regarding the Plaintiff's professional negligence, breach of contract, and negligent misrepresentation claims. Despite Plaintiff's objections, the District Court upheld its Order granting summary judgment to Defendants. Plaintiff's appeal follows.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1) Whether the District Court misconstrued federal and Idaho law governing the standards of professional conduct for appraisers in reaching its decision to grant summary judgment in favor of Massey?

[Suggested answer in the affirmative]

2) Whether the District Court erred by relying on evidence not in the record in reaching its decision to grant summary judgment in favor of Massey?

[Suggested answer in the affirmative]

3) Whether the District Court erred by making impermissible findings of fact in reaching its decision to grant summary judgment in favor of Massey?

[Suggested answer in the affirmative]

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

"When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard of review used by the district court in ruling on the motion." Mortensen v. Stewart Title Guar. Co., 149 Idaho 437, 441, 235 P.3d 387, 391 (2010). A grant of summary judgment is warranted where "the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any,

show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). The facts are to be liberally construed in favor of the non-moving party. Renzo v. Idaho State Dep't of Agric., 149 Idaho 777, 779, 241 P.3d 950, 952 (2010). The moving party bears the burden of proving the absence of any issue as to any material fact. Blickenstaff v. Clegg, 140 Idaho 572, 97 P.3d 439 (2004). The moving party may satisfy its initial burden by establishing, either through its own evidence or that of the non-moving party, that non-moving party will be unable to prove an element of a claim or defense at trial. McCorkle v. Northwestern Mutual Life Ins. Co., 141 Idaho 550, 554, 112 P.3d 838, 842 (2005). The nonmoving party must then adduce sufficient admissible evidence to support a finding in its favor by the trier of fact or offer a valid justification under I.R.C.P. 56(f). Id.

### B. The District Court Misconstrued the Law Governing Appraisal Standards

Despite starting with the premise that negligence requires "a duty, recognized by law," nowhere in its Summary Judgment Order does the District Court consider the affirmative duties imposed on appraisers by the applicable federal statutes and related national professional standards. Summary Judgment Order at 6; R. Vol. II, p. 199.

#### i. FIRREA and USPAP Define the Duties Owed by Appraisers

In response to mortgage abuses that contributed to the Savings and Loan scandal of the 1980s, Congress passed the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA), Title XI, 12 U.S.C. § 3331, et seq. The stated purpose of FIRREA is to ensure that real estate appraisals are conducted in accordance with uniform national standards. These standards require that all appraisals be performed and supervised by individuals whose competency has been established. FIRREA also established an Appraisal Standards Board to provide these guidelines, which were subsequently promulgated as the Uniform Standards of

Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP). These standards are updated annually to account for changes in the real estate market. The core principle of USPAP is embodied in Standards Rule 1.1:

In developing a real estate appraisal, an appraiser must:

a) Be aware of, understand, and correctly employ those recognized methods and techniques that are necessary to produce a credible appraisal;

\*\*\*

b) Not commit a substantial error of omission or commission that significantly affects the appraisal; and

\*\*\*

c) Not render appraisal services in a careless or negligent manner, such as by making a series of errors that, although individually might not significantly affect the results of an appraisal, in the aggregate affect the credibility of those results.

USPAP also provides definitions and minimum requirements for various types of appraisal reports. Standards Rule 2-2 provides that every appraisal "must be prepared under one of the following three options and prominently state which option is used: Self-Contained Appraisal Report, Summary Appraisal Report, or Restricted Use Appraisal Report." The Comment to Rule 2-2 clarifies that the essential difference between the three options is the content and level of information provided, and cautions appraisers that "[w]hen the intended users include parties other than the client, either a Self-Contained Appraisal Report or a Summary Appraisal Report must be provided. When the intended users do not include parties other than the client, a Restricted Use Appraisal Report may be provided." (Emphasis added). All reports require the appraiser to identify both the client and any intended users, by name or by type.

For Self-Contained and Summary Reports, "[i]ntended users of the report might include parties such as lenders, employees of government agencies, partners of a client, and a clients

attorney and accountant." Comments to Rule 2-2(a)(i); 2-2(b)(i). In contrast, a Restricted Use Appraisal is required to "state a prominent use restriction that limits use of the report to the client and warns that the appraisers opinions and conclusions set forth in the report may not be understood properly without additional information in the appraisers workfile." Rule 2-2(c)(i). All appraisal reports, regardless of their type, must "be consistent with the intended use of the appraisal" and include a certification that "analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, in conformity with the *Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice*." Rule 2-2(a); Rule 2-2(b); Rule 2-2(c); Rule 2-3. Accordingly, no appraiser can be a stranger to USPAP.

In Idaho, the Real Estate Appraisers Act (§54-4101) governs the administrative regulation of all appraisers licensed in accordance with FIRREA. The Act defines the term "appraisal assignment" as:

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