Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-4-2013

Cumis Ins. Society, Inc v. Massey Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40002

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

⁴ Idaho adopted USPAP. See I.D.A.P.A. § 24.18.01.004.

Indeed, application of the undisputed facts to the relevant provisions of USPAP proves that Massey did not owe a duty to Idahy to conform with the standards of practice prescribed therein. The linchpin to this argument is simple: as defined by USPAP, Idahy was neither a Client of Massey nor an Intended User of the inchoate appraisal. Furthermore, there was no appraisal "report" that was "transmitted" to Idahy. The District Court did not error in so concluding.

USPAP defines a "Client" to be the party or parties who engage the appraiser (by employment or contract) in a specific assignment. See Affidavit of Joe Huffman, at ¶ 5(b). The Client is the party with whom the appraiser has an "appraiser-client relationship "See id. In this case, Idahy was not Massey's Client under USPAP, and, significantly, Massey and Idahy never communicated with each other about the Appraisal or anything else. R Vol. I, p. 110-112 Affidavit of Joe Huffman, at ¶¶ 7, 8. Massey did not even know Idahy had obtained a copy of the inchoate Appraisal until he was served the Complaint. R Vol. I, p. 110-112. As to Massey, Idahy could have been anybody (and everybody) in the world. Massey did not owe Idahy a duty of care as contemplated by USPAP, as Idahy is no more "a member of the class of persons the statute or regulation was designed to protect" as any other person who somehow gets a hold of an appraiser's cast-off work product drafts without authorization. Sanchez v. Galey, 112 Idaho at 617, 733 P.2d at 1242. The District Court correctly appreciated these facts and principles, and, as a result, correctly held that Massey did not owe or assume any duty towards Idahy.

This is further supported by the fact Idahy was not an Intended User of the inchoate appraisal. An "Intended User" is the client and any other party as identified, by name or type, as users of the appraisal . . . on the basis of communication with the client at the time of the

assignment." See Affidavit of Joe Huffman, at ¶ 5(c) (emphasis added). Idahy was not the Client, as explained above, and was not identified in any manner as a user of the inchoate appraiser "on the basis of communication with client [Clearwater] at the time of the assignment." R Vol. I, p. 110-112 & Affidavit of Joe Huffman, at ¶ 8. Furthermore, the inchoate appraisal was not assigned or otherwise transferred to Idahy. R Vol. II, p. 192-193. Incredibly, Idahy does not even know how it obtained a copy of the inchoate appraisal, yet still insists it is entitled to damages from Massey. R Vol. I, p. 62-63.

Nor does the fact Idahy sent Massey a check after escrow closed on the Hruza loan alter the analysis. USPAP defines "Assignment" to be a "a valuation service provided as a consequence of an agreement between an appraiser and a client." *See* Affidavit of Joe Huffman, at ¶ 5(a). Under USPAP, the check or any payment is irrelevant, and did not retroactively create an appraiser/client relationship or duty as between Idahy and Massey. First, Idahy sent the check after it decided to loan the Hruzas the money⁶. R Vol. II, p. 174-176. Second, Massey only learned about the check after the fact. R Vol. II, p. 172. And third, USPAP clearly provides that it is the engagement, not payment, which gives rise to the client-appraiser relationship. *See Affidavit of Joe Huffman, at ¶10. As discussed above, there was no communication between Idahy and Massey, let alone "Assignment." As such, there is no relationship from which a

 $^{^5}$ USPAP defines "Assignment" to be a "a valuation service provided as a consequence of an agreement between an appraiser and a client. *See* Affidavit of Joe Huffman, at \P 5(a).

⁶ The check is dated 5 days after the settlement Statement.

⁷ Notably, USPAP's position on how payment is irrelevant to the creation of an appraiser-client relationship is analogous to Massey's contention that there is no contract with Idahy because, among other reasons, there was no bargained for consideration.

breach could occur.

Moreover, there was not an appraisal "Report," as that term is defined by USPAP, upon which to base the Plaintiff's causes of action. The fact that Idahy improperly obtained a copy of the appraisal does not mean it was entitled to rely on it anymore than a person who pulls a lawyer's draft opinion letter opining on the legality of a tax strategy from the garbage receptacle.

USPAP defines "Report" to mean "any communication, written or oral, of an appraisal, appraisal review, or appraisal consulting service that is transmitted to the client upon completion of an assignment." See Affidavit of Joe Huffman, at ¶ 5(e). First, as analyzed above, there was no "Assignment" as between Idahy and Massey, as they never communicated with one another about anything, let alone forged an agreement. Therefore, there was no appraisal/client relationship upon which to predicate a claim based on a breach of standards of practice. Second, there was no "completion" of the "Assignment" between Clearwater Mortgage, Inc. because it and Massey mutually rescinded it. See, e.g., Pitner v. Federal Crop Ins. Corp., 94 Idaho 496, 491 P.2d 1268 (1971)(A contract may be rescinded by mutual consent of the contracting parties). Third, Idahy was not a "Client." And fourth, the only evidence on point, the Affidavit of Ernie Menchaca, establishes that the Client, Clearwater, did not "transmit" or assign the appraisal draft. R Vol. II, p. 192-193. The Plaintiff cannot fail to controvert this evidence and expect to survive a motion for summary judgment. See Olsen v. J. A. Freeman Co., 117 Idaho 706,791 P.2d 1285 (1990) (stating that a party against whom a motion for summary judgment is sought "may not merely rest on allegations contained in his pleadings, but must come forward and produce evidence by way of deposition or affidavit to contradict the assertions of the contradict the assertions of the moving party").

2. The Plaintiff Did Not Request the Court to Apply the Balance of Harms Test, But Even if it Had, the Test Demonstrates that the Massey Defendants Did Not Owe the Plaintiff a Legal Duty.

On appeal the Plaintiff asserts for the first time that the District Court should have applied the balance of harms test to determine if the Massey Defendants owed the Plaintiff a tort duty. Because the Plaintiff did not raise this issue at the District Court, it is waived.

"Substantive issues will not be considered the first time on appeal." *Crowley v. Critchfield*, 145 Idaho 509, 512, 181 P.3d 435, 438 (2007). A party cannot "remain silent as to claimed error during a trial and later urge his objections thereto for the first time on appeal." *Hoppe v. McDonald*, 103 Idaho 33, 35, 644 P.2d 355, 357 (1982). Failing to object to actions the District Court takes bars the party from challenging the District Court's action on appeal. *See Mackowiak v. Harris*, 146 Idaho 864, 866, 204 P.3d 504, 506 (2009).

The Massey Defendants, but not the Plaintiff, urged the District Court to apply the balance of harms test. None of the Plaintiff's briefing appears to request the District Court to apply the balance of harms test or refute the Massey Defendants' discussion of the test. In fact, the Plaintiff's briefing largely, if not entirely, ignores the key issue in this case, which is whether the Massey Defendants owed a tort duty to a lender with whom Massey had never communicated and which lender does not even know how it obtained the inchoate appraisal report. Therefore, the Plaintiff waived the issue of whether the District Court erred in not applying the balance of harms test. *See Crowley v. Critchfield*, 145 Idaho at 512, 181 P.3d at 438.

Even if the Plaintiff had not waived the balance of harms issue, the Massey Defendants owed the Plaintiff no duty under that test. In analyzing whether "to recognize a new duty or extend a duty beyond the scope previously imposed," the Supreme Court engages in a balance-of-the-harms test.

Vincent v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am., 136 Idaho 107,29 P.3d 943 (2001). The balance of harms test involves the consideration of:

policy and the weighing of factors, which include: the foreseeability of the harm to the plaintiff; the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury; the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered; the moral blame attached to the defendant's conduct; the policy of preventing future harm; the extent of the burden to the defendant and consequences to the community of imposing a duty to exercise care with resulting liability for breach; and the availability, cost, and prevalence of insurance for the risk involved. *Id*.

Applying these factors, the Massey Defendants did not owe Idahy, Plaintiff's subrogor, a duty of care. First, at the time Massey was preparing the appraisal, there was no foreseeability of harm to Idahy because Clearwater Mortgage, Inc. was Massey's client. R Vol. I, p. 110-112. It is undisputed that the appraisal did not identify Idahyas the "Intended User." R Vol. I, p. 110-112 & Affidavit of Joe Huffinan, at ¶ 8. It is also undeniable that Massey never contemplated Idahy to be his client.R Vol. I, p. 110-112. Similarly, it is undisputed that Massey did not know that Idahy had received a copy of the appraisal, or as alleged by Plaintiff, that Idahy relied on it in making the loan to Hruza, until well after the September 13, 2007 close of escrow. R Vol. I, p. 110-112. Nor was there an assignment of the appraisal. R Vol. II, p. 192-193. Simply put, the Massey Defendants could not have foreseen any harm to Idahy because at the time of preparing the appraisal, Idahy was not within the contemplation of the Massey Defendants. *See id.*

Nor can a cogent argument be made that the Massey Defendants should have foreseen any harm to anybody. Based on his conversation with Mr. Menchaca, who was at all relevant times the president and CEO of Clearwater Mortgage, Massey understood the Appraisal to be inchoate and never to be completed, revised or finalized. R Vol. I, p. 110-11. Because Massey never contemplated that the inchoate Appraisal would be used or relied upon by anyone, it follows that it was not foreseeable that *anyone* would be

harmed by it.

Other factors of the balance of harms test also demonstrate that the Massey Defendants did not owe any duty to Idahy. Because the appraisal was nothing more than an incomplete and preliminary draft, it follows, *a fortiori*, that the Massey Defendants could not have had any inkling, let alone a "degree of certainty," that Idahy or any other lender would suffer injury by way of the appraisal. Moreover, if Idahy had followed industry custom, it would have sought an assignment, at which point it would have learned there was no appraisal report to assign. R Vol. II, p. 192-193; Affidavit of Joe Huffman at ¶12.

For the same reasons, no moral blame can be attached to the Massey Defendants' conduct. The appraisal was nothing more than an incomplete draft that was not to be used or relied upon. R Vol. I, p. 110-112; R Vol. II, p. 192-193. While moral blame might exist if an appraiser intentionally put a defective appraisal into the stream of commerce intending that third-parties rely on it, there can be no moral blame for deciding, along with one's Client, not to complete the Appraisal.

In sum, the Plaintiff waived any argument that the District Court erred in purportedly failing to apply the balance of harms test. But even if Plaintiff had not waived this issue, the Massey Defendants did not owe Idahy a duty of care under the balance of harms test.

This conclusion accords with authority in other jurisdictions holding that, absent privity of contract, an appraiser cannot be liable for negligently preparing an appraisal relied on by a third-party who is not within a definable, fixed or contemplated assignment to the recipient. *See, e.g., Webb* v. *Leclair*, 933 A.2d 177, 183 (Vt. 2007)(holding that appraiser did not owe duty to purchaser under negligence and negligent misrepresentation theory because no privity existed); *Decatur Ventures, LLC* v. *Daniel*, 485 F.3d

387, 390 (7th Cir. 2007)(under Indiana law real estate appraiser does not owe duty of care to buyer who the appraiser did not know, was not his client and was not a third-party beneficiary of contract between appraiser and client); *Christiansen v. Roddy*, 186 Cal.App.3d 780 (1986)(holding that appraiser did not owe duty of care to investors for whom the appraisal was <u>not performed</u> and where there was no evidence appraiser knew or aware of the investors).

B. The Plaintiff Was Bound to Its Open Court Stipulation Into the Record of the Menchaca Affidavit. Alternatively, the Plaintiff Invited Error by Stipulating to the Admission of Menchaca Affidavit When it Knew or Should Have Known it Lacked a Copy of the Document.

The Plaintiff incorrectly and misleadingly contends that the District Court relied on evidence not in the record, namely the Affidavit of Ernie Menchaca. The reality is that Plaintiff is bound to its attorney's open court stipulation to the admissibility of the Affidavit of Ernie Menchaca. Alternatively, the Plaintiff's attorneys invited error by so stipulating and, as such, is barred from arguing that the District Court erred in relying on the Affidavit of Ernie Menchaca.

Contrary to Plaintiff's argument on appeal, Mr. Menchaca's affidavit was in the record. After the District Court advised counsel that she did not have a copy of it, which the Massey Defendants cited to fourteen (14) times in their Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, the Plaintiff's counsel stipulated to its admission at the February 9, 2013, hearing. When the District Court asked whether Mr. Wilson had received it, he replied that he "believed so" and invited counsel for the Massey Defendants to "augment the record." *See* Tr. February 9, 2012, hearing, at 5-6. A stipulation such as this, which was made in an open court, is final. *See Workman Family Partnership* v. *City of Twin Falls*, 104 Idaho 32, 35, 655 P.2d 926, 929 (1982). The affidavit was in the District Court records within hours of the hearing. And the only reason a copy was

not served on the Plaintiff's attorneys was because of Mr. Wilson's representation that he believed he had a copy of it.

Moreover, the Plaintiff's innuendo laced argument that it was denied access to the Menchaca affidavit is, again, misleading and disingenuous. Admittedly, it <u>is</u> likely the Affidavit of Emie Menchaca was not served in accordance with Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure 7(b)(1) with the Massey Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. But counsel for the Massey Defendants did not know this until the February 9, 2012, hearing. Despite it being referenced over a dozen times in the Massey Defendants' supporting memorandum, which undoubtedly led the District Court to search for it,⁸ and should have alerted <u>both</u> of Plaintiff's attorneys that they lacked all the papers, neither of the Plaintiff's two law firms ever advised Massey's attorney of the issue. Tr., May 10, 2012 hearing, p. 30-31, ll. 20-3. More importantly, after the February 9, 2012, hearing, neither Mr. Wilson nor Mr. Coldwell contacted Massey's counsel to advise that they in fact did not have the Menchaca Affidavit. As such, a copy was not served on either attorney after the hearing because Mr. Wilson previously had indicated that he had a copy. With these facts, the Supreme Court should hold the Plaintiff's attorneys to their stipulation.

Furthermore, the Plaintiff's attorneys invited error by stipulating to the admission of the Affidavit of Ernie Menchaca, and, as such, cannot be heard to complain about it on appeal. "It has long been the law in Idaho that one may not successfully complain of errors one has acquiesced in or invited. Errors consented to, acquiesced in, or invited are not reversible." *Taylor v. McNichols*, 149 Idaho 826, 833, 243 P.3d 642, 649 (2010), *quoting State v. Owsley*, 105 Idaho

8 Notably, the District Court found no merit in the Plaintiff's counsel's contention that it was denied access to the Affidavit, noting "[t]here is no indication whatsoever that it was withheld." Tr. May 10, 2012 hearing, p. 26-27, ll. 25-6.

836, 838, 673 P.2d 436, 438 (1983).

Here, the Plaintiff's attorney invited error by encouraging and inviting the District Court to admit into evidence the Affidavit of Ernie Menchaca. Notably, the Plaintiff is <u>not</u> seeking relief under the so-called attorney incompetence exception to the invited error doctrine recognized in some jurisdictions. *See, e.g., People v. Stewart*, 55 P.3d 107, 119 (Colo. 2002). Nor is the Plaintiff seeking relief from its stipulation. Instead, the Plaintiff is accusing the District Court of relying on evidence that they contend was not in the record, which is manifestly false. For the foregoing reasons the Plaintiff is bound to its attorney's stipulation to the admissibility of the Affidavit of Ernie Menchaca.

C. The District Court Did not Rely upon Disputed Material Facts or Draw
Impermissible Inferences Therefrom When It Ruled that the Massey
Defendants Did Not Owe the Plaintiff a Legal Duty Upon Which to Base its
Professional Negligence Claim.

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